DEFENCE FOR CHILDREN INTERNATIONAL All-Ukrainian Foundation for Children's Rights

(DCI-ECPAT NL)





CHILD-FRIENDLY JUSTICE IN UKRAINE:

FROM A CONCEPT TO A WORKING MODEL (The state policy in the juvenile justice realm)

Abstract

This document is designed to support steps to create a basis for the formation of a domestic model of juvenile justice in Ukraine based on international children's rights standards in this area, in particular the concept of a child-friendly justice.

The purpose of the analysis is to assist the representatives of authorized governmental bodies and institutions in obtaining an overall assessment of the status of the juvenile justice system functioning, focusing their attention on the key problems in this area, and forming the basis for directing the state's actions to create an effective model of the child-friendly justice in Ukraine.

The recommendations given emphasize the importance of adopting a basic law on the juvenile justice. It is stated that the government policy in this sphere should be recognized as a separate area of activity of its bodies in the field of human rights, and its implementation should be based on the principle of "ensuring the best interests of the child". Attention is drawn to the need for greater inclusion, to the content of the national statutory instruments in this area, of the provisions of international instruments on the rights of the child, including the ones related to the juvenile justice.

This document has been prepared under the Matra 2017-2020 program of the Government of the Netherlands and supported by the Netherlands Section of the Defence for Children International organization (DCI-ECPAT NL). The document has been developed to support the implementation of the National Social Program "National Action Plan for the Implementation of the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child" until 2021 and the National Strategy for the reform of the juvenile justice system until 2023, as well as in the context of provisions of the Council of Europe Strategy for the rights of the child (2016-2021).

This generalization is intended for representatives of state agencies, services, and institutions, involved in the formation and practical implementation of the state policy in the field of juvenile justice (parliamentarians, heads and experts of central government bodies and local self-government bodies, judges, prosecutors, investigators, staff of the probation authorities, social services, special agencies and institutions for children, etc.) that have the ability to direct the vector of the state action towards the development of the child-friendly justice.

This document will also be useful for representatives of civil society, who today make a significant contribution to this process, and most importantly, have the desire to influence the public policy-making in this area.

© All-Ukrainian Foundation for Children's Rights © Defence for Children International - ECPAT NL

Contents

Introduction
1. National model of juvenile justice: current situation and problems of functioning5
1.1. Origins of the formation of the state policy on the juvenile justice in Ukraine5
1.2. Juvenile justice: the issue of structure
1.3. State policy on the juvenile justice: the issue of content
1.4. Legal framework for the juvenile justice in Ukraine: the issue of compliance with
international standards
1.5. National practice of the juvenile justice and the role of international standards9
1.6. Role of the child in the juvenile justice system10
1.7. Implementation of the "ensuring the best interests of the child"
principle12
2. Options for addressing the problems
2.1. Changes in the state approaches to the development of the juvenile justice policy
2.2. Improvement of legislation on the juvenile justice
2.3. Upgrade of the law enforcement practices in the juvenile justice
2.4. Approaches to choosing the best child-friendly justice model for
Ukraine17
3. Conclusions and recommendations
List of sources

Introduction

Protection of the rights of the child is an integral part of the Ukraine's human rights policy, affecting more than 7.6^1 million children – and these are the citizens of Ukraine only. Every year many children come into contact with the law and the justice system in this or that status: suspects / accused persons, persons who have committed an administrative offense, victims, and witnesses.

Ensuring that all children have access to justice is one of the prerequisites for existence of the rule-of-law state. International standards stipulate that every child should be guaranteed the right to a fair trial and respect for other rights and freedoms, and, taking into consideration the special status of the child, each child should also be provided with special care and assistance, giving priority to the best interests of the child.

That is why in many countries, including Ukraine, measures are being put in place to establish such child protection systems, including the ones related to children in contact with the law, which would be appropriate and adapted to their age, maturity, and development. For example, in recent years Ukraine has ratified a number of international conventions concerning the rights of the child, and a series of measures are being taken to strengthen the protection of children in terms of their right to proper support and care. In addition, a range of program documents are being implemented in the field of the rights of the child (the National Action Plan for the Implementation of the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child) and juvenile justice (the National Strategy for the reform of the juvenile justice system until 2023). Some time ago the national probation service was established and the foundations for specialization of investigators, prosecutors, and judges in criminal cases against minors were laid. With the support of international partners at the level of cities and regions of Ukraine, a series of pilot projects are being implemented to improve the protection of children in conflict / contact with the law.

However, despite the numerous state measures in the area of the rights of the child, both child protection and juvenile justice issues have not yet been properly addressed, in particular through the launch of functioning of a juvenile justice system. They have also not been resolved in accordance with the existing international standards in this field, although this approach at the state level is recognized as the central area of focus for development of the national legislation and the practice of its application in the field of human rights, which is also part of the Association Agreement between Ukraine and the European Union.

Not only the resolutions of the parliamentary hearings held in 2004, 2005, 2007, 2011, 2014, 2016, and 2017 are indicative of the deficiencies of the state policy in the field of the rights of the child. Alternative reports on the implementation of the provisions of the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child in Ukraine for 2002–2008, 2012–2016, and 2011–2018, and the Concluding Observations of the UN Committee on

¹ Excluding the temporarily occupied territory of the Autonomous Republic of Crimea and the city of Sevastopol.

the Rights of the Child on Ukraine submitted by it in 2002, 2007, and 2011, also highlight the existing systemic pain points.

The state of provision of children's rights in Ukraine was particularly affected by the aggravation of the socio-economic situation in the country due to the Russian aggression in 2014–2015, which forced the legislator, aiming to prevent a financial catastrophe and to create preconditions for an economic growth in Ukraine, even to cut down some social support programs for children.

That is why the shortcomings that exist in this area do not allow characterizing the attitude of the state and its bodies and agencies towards the child in conflict / contact with the law as the one aimed at giving top priority to the best possible ensuring of the child's interests and protecting his or her rights, including through the reintegration of the child instead of punishment and isolation. Moreover, such measures are not only quite cost-intensive for the budget, but also ineffective for crime prevention.

And the proper development of our country as a democratic and a rule-of-law state depends, of course, on the due resolution, based on the fairness and humanism, of the issue of protection of children's rights and arrangement of a juvenile justice in Ukraine, which would meet the international standards in this field. The prospects for the country's membership in the European Union also depend on this. Thus, at the level of the Concept of the National Social Program "National Action Plan for the Implementation of the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child" until 2021, it is determined that the process of Ukraine's accession into the European Union provides for the implementation of European standards and approaches to the enforcement of the rights of the child.

That is why this document should help representatives of the state, involved in the formulation and implementation of the state policy on the juvenile justice, to develop a vision of optimal ways for Ukraine to implement its own model of juvenile justice, based on the generally recognized international standards of children's rights in this field – in particular, the concept of the child-friendly justice.

According to the study made, exactly the concept of the child-friendly justice is one of the up-to-date and most humane among the juvenile justice models. This concept is recognized as one of the most effective at the level of international bodies and many countries, including the countries of the European Union. Because of its adaptation to the needs of children in accordance with their age, maturity, and development, the childfriendly justice is able to ensure the effective protection of the rights of the child in conflict / contact with the law, to contribute to the resolution of a range of legal and social problems of such a child, and, which is equally important, to protect the interests of the community and society.

According to the deep-rooted conviction of national and international experts who participated in the preparation, review, and elaboration of this document, the implementation in Ukraine of the concept of the child-friendly justice will result in the creation of a valid and efficient model of the juvenile justice, which would be truly child-friendly. Its implementation will undoubtedly help raise the protection of the rights of the child in conflict / contact with the law to a qualitatively new level and further promote and uphold the enforcement of human rights and freedoms in Ukraine.

Upbringing of children depends entirely on the attitude of the adults, not the attitude of the adults towards the problems of upbringing.

Gilbert Chesterton

1. National model of juvenile justice: current situation and problems of functioning.

1.1. Origins of the formation of the state policy on the juvenile justice in Ukraine.

The juvenile justice issue is not something essentially new to the law and legal practice of Ukraine. Attempts to resolve these issues were initiated more than one hundred years ago. The Statute of Criminal Proceedings of 1864 provided for the existence of special rules and procedures for dealing with minors in the proceedings. Starting from the beginning of the 20th century, special juvenile courts were established in Kharkiv, Kyiv, Odessa, Katerynoslav, and Mykolaiv. During the Soviet period, there were special commissions on juvenile delinquency. In 1971, the Criminal Proceedings in juvenile delinquency cases". With the advent of independence in 1991, Ukraine ratified the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child, and the Concept of the Judicial and Legal Reform in Ukraine in 1992 provided for the establishment of courts for consideration of family law cases and cases on minors.

Finally, the Criminal Procedure Code of 2012 introduced the specialization of investigators, as well as courts on the consideration of criminal proceedings concerning minors, while in 2017 the National Strategy for the reform of the juvenile justice system until 2023 was approved.

Therefore, paying special attention to the rights of children in the sphere of justice administration is a tendency inherent in the process of development of both the state and the law in Ukraine. It should also be considered as a reflection of the formation of our state as a European-type country, which is set up based on the principles of humanity and justice, as well as on the priorities of the universally recognized human values.

1.2. Juvenile justice: the issue of structure.

When it comes to the juvenile justice, it should not be linked with a court and its activities only. In the broad sense, which is supported by a number of major international instruments in this sphere, the juvenile justice should cover the issues of both organization of the judiciary (the central body of this system) and the functioning of related institutions (advocacy, prosecutor's office, bodies of the pre-trial investigation, probation agencies, social services, and special institutions for children). That is why, in the process of formulation of the state policy in this field, it is expedient to consider the juvenile justice as a system designed to guarantee every child the right to a fair trial and respect for his or her other rights and freedoms. And this system should be operated on the rule-of-law principles in accordance with the European standards.

As for the content, such concepts as "the juvenile justice" or "the system of justice for children" are also used as a synonym for the "system of justice for minors" word combination, in particular in the legislation. At present, interpretation of the juvenile justice in Ukraine is mainly associated only with institution of criminal proceedings against a minor. However, taking into account the approaches of the European Court of Human Rights (Engel v. The Netherlands), certain safeguards specific to criminal charges within the meaning of the Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms may apply during the consideration of a specific category cases involving administrative offenses. At that, the provision of such safeguards to minors is quite relevant, as administrative offenses are quite widespread among them², which would be aligned with guarantees of the rights of the child in the event of criminal charges (Articles 37, 40 of the Convention on the Rights of the Child).

Such an approach requires a broader understanding of the content of the juvenile justice concept, which goes beyond the borders of criminal justice and criminal punishment only. In addition, when considering criminal cases, the court does not always pay attention to the issues of civil and family rights of the child involved in the legal proceedings.

1.3. State policy on the juvenile justice: the issue of content.

The state policy in the field of juvenile justice, which is a reflection of the fulfillment of Ukraine's obligations under the ratification of the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child and a number of other international treaties in this sphere, has its own specificity and peculiarities.

Thus, it is simultaneously linked to both the state policy on the rights of the child and the state policy in the sphere of justice in general. And such a linkage of the juvenile justice with other equally important and topical issues in the sphere of human rights does not contribute to the vision of it as an independent area of activity of the Ukrainian authorities. There is certain dissipation of efforts and resources that should have been persistently focused on improving the juvenile justice realm.

² According to the State Statistics data, these offenses were committed: in 2016 – with respect to 13,878 minors; in 2017 – with respect to 12,661 minors; in 2018 – with respect to 10,477 minors.

In particular, this can be confirmed by the provisions of six general and special concepts and programs in the sphere of human rights and justice administration, not implemented or only partially implemented in Ukraine over the last almost twenty-seven years, which included issues related to the juvenile justice. At some point, the concern about such a slow pace of reforms in the juvenile justice system in Ukraine was also expressed by the UN Committee on the Rights of the Child.

The plan of implementation of the National Social Program "National Action Plan for the Implementation of the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child" for the period until 2021 foresees the development of a system of justice for children through working out a corresponding draft law in 2019. However, taking into account the fact that 2019 is a year of the intensive political activity in Ukraine, the implementation of this idea may again be postponed for an indefinite period.

In addition, since the juvenile justice concerns a special category of persons – children, it should have certain meaningful specificity – particularly in relation to the purposes of the child's treatment, as well as the content of the practices and procedures for such treatment, which is a requirement of the international standards – in particular, the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child.

The existing problems in the formation and implementation of the state policy on the juvenile justice mainly concern the insufficient reflection of this specificity in its content, directions, and measures for its implementation.

This results in a situation where the state policy in this sphere is insufficiently effective, while the domestic legislation on the juvenile justice does not fully comply with the requirements of international instruments in this field.

Therefore, the lack of deliberate, consistent, and systemic involvement, at the state level, of the legislative, executive, and law enforcement agencies in implementing new and improving existing practices and procedures, aimed at the best possible protection of the interests of the child, does not lead to the proper protection of the rights of children in contact with the law.

In addition, the economic factor of preventing juvenile delinquency and the financial effectiveness of certain measures of influence (especially detention in prisons and juvenile correctional facilities) are not always taken into consideration when developing programs, decisions, and regulatory changes. Interests of the community and society in terms of security and social peace are also not always taken into account. Consideration of these aspects, on the one hand, can save funds from the local and state budgets, and on the other hand, can become an effective factor in expanding forms and mechanisms of re-socialization of children in conflict with the law.

And although the Ukrainian Government notes that the state has achieved significant results in ensuring children's rights, however, these measures are not enough, as evidenced in particular by the study of the Alternative Reports on the Implementation by Ukraine of the provisions of the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child for 2002-2008, 2012-2016, and 2011-2018 (draft), "Analysis of the National Legislative Framework of Ukraine on the current system of protection of children in conflict with the law" (Defence for Children International (DCI-ECPAT NL) – the All-Ukrainian Foundation for Children's Rights), as

well as the Concluding Observations of the UN Committee on the Rights of the Child concerning Ukraine, which were provided by the Committee in 2002, 2007, and 2011 following the submission of periodic reports by our country.

As a result, we can see a situation where the administration of the state policy in this area, while formally ensuring the implementation of international standards for the protection of the rights of the child, still has not led to the creation of an effective mechanism for their protection in Ukraine, including through the formation of a system of justice for children, based on to the best international standards and practices.

1.4. Legal framework for the juvenile justice in Ukraine: compliance with international standards.

The peculiarity of the legal framework for the juvenile justice in Ukraine is the fact that children's rights and their guarantees, establishment of procedures for dealing with a child during the criminal proceedings, and grounds for application of coercive measures and legal liability must be determined solely by the laws of Ukraine (Article 92 of the Constitution of Ukraine). And although international legal treaties are also a part of the national legislation in this sphere, but only those ratified by the Verkhovna Rada of Ukraine (Article 19 of the Law of Ukraine "On International Treaties of Ukraine").

This circumstance in a certain sense decelerates the update of the legal framework for the juvenile justice in Ukraine and the process of bringing it in line with those international standards (the UN and Council of Europe guiding principles, the UN Standard Minimum Rules, etc.), which do not have the status of the ones ratified by the Verkhovna Rada of Ukraine. Their provisions are not included in the provisions of the national legislation. Only recently there appear official documents of the Government, where these statutory instruments get the status of standards in the juvenile justice sphere. However, they still do not have the status of a source of law, which deprives them of any regulatory influence on the relationship in this area and actions of the authorized persons.

Taking into account the above-mentioned peculiarities of the legal framework for the juvenile justice in Ukraine, references to international standards, which do not have the status of the ones ratified by the Verkhovna Rada of Ukraine, in the subordinate statutory acts (as a rule, these are a resolution or an order of the Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine and letters of the highest judicial authorities) do not ensure the bringing of the national legislation in this sphere in line with the relevant international standards. Although at the official level, the Government has declared the position that regulations and provisions of international documents of a universal and regional nature should become a legal platform for standards in the juvenile justice sphere.

The Government notes that a number of statutory instruments have been adopted in recent years (the new Criminal Procedure Code, the Law of Ukraine "On Probation", etc.), aimed at improving the legislation on the protection of the rights of children, including minors, who are in conflict with the law. However, along with this, the Government acknowledges that there is still a range of problems that need to be resolved by Ukraine's implementation of the country's international obligations, in particular those that are conditioned by the ratification of the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child.

The position of the public (Alternative Reports on the Implementation by Ukraine of the provisions of the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child for 2002-2008, 2012-2016, and 2011-2018) and international institutions (Concluding Observations of the UN Committee on the Rights of the Child concerning Ukraine) regarding these deficiencies is more negative. In particular, the Alternative Report on Ukraine's observance of the provisions of the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child for the period from 2011 to 2018 indicates that both national legislation and practice do not contribute to the implementation of the ratified international treaties.

In addition, despite the upgrade, the current Ukrainian legislation does not contain definitions of, and does not define the content of, such categories as "juvenile justice", "child-friendly justice", "justice on minors", "juvenile judiciary", "children in conflict with the law", "children in contact with the law", etc. This does not allow to fully develop the approaches to solving problems related to the implementation and protection of the rights of these categories of persons, which fact does not contribute to the protection of the rights of the child in Ukraine.

This is the evidence to the fact that the legal and regulatory aspects of the state policy on the juvenile justice ensures the consolidation of the existing standards and peculiarities of the justice with respect to children in the national statutory instruments on a nominal basis only. Such a situation does not contribute to the formation of an effective mechanism for the protection of the rights of the child in Ukraine and the implementation of international (including the European ones) standards, practices, and approaches to ensuring the rights of the child in the practical activities of the authorized state bodies.

There are separate concerns about the state of justice regarding the consideration of cases on administrative offences (proceedings on such cases are regulated by the Code of Ukraine on Administrative Offenses). As for this Code, it is acknowledged by the Government that the existing procedures for instituting administrative actions are, to a great extent, obsolete, and the rights of persons being brought to administrative liability (while the importance of these rights is noted in a number of international documents) are not provided for by this Code. This situation needs to be resolved in a proper way.

1.5. National practice of the juvenile justice and the role of international standards.

A court is the central chain link of the juvenile justice system, which fact stipulates the attention of the judicial branch to the issues of peculiarities in consideration of cases concerning minors – and this situation is reflected in the relevant programs (for example, in 2012, the Supreme Court of Ukraine, with the support of Agriteam Canada, concluded an agreement on implementation of the project "Reform of the Criminal Justice System for Juveniles in Ukraine), judgments and letters of higher courts, which are widely used in practice. But in many cases these programs are already completed and the acts are outdated and do not sufficiently take into account current international standards.

For example, the relevant Resolution by the Plenum of the Supreme Court of Ukraine "On the Practice of application of the laws on juvenile crimes by the courts of Ukraine" was issued on April 16, 2004, even before the new CPC came into force in 2012. However, it does not take into account both the new peculiarities of pre-trial investigation and judicial consideration of criminal proceedings concerning minors in the present-day conditions and the international standards for dealing with this category of cases. In its turn, the letter of the Superior Specialized Court of Ukraine for civil and criminal cases "On the practice of administration by the courts of criminal proceedings involving minors", dated January 16, 2017, contains a reference to the international standards in the field of the protection of children's rights, but, as of today, it is quite difficult to determine the role of such document in the law enforcement practice. Moreover, it does not address a number of problematic issues related to the administration of criminal proceedings involving minors.

In the opinion of the Ministry of Justice of Ukraine, existing problems in the sphere of administration of the law are caused by the imperfection of the national legislation. In addition, these problems are a result of the lack of systemacity in the activities of bodies and agencies on minors and their interaction with each other. Such a situation does not contribute to the formation of common and, most importantly, well-grounded approaches regarding the work with juvenile offenders.

At the governmental level, the ineffective inter-sectoral coordination in the integrated resolution of problems, related to the enforcement of children's rights, retarding the modernization of the existing system, is recognized as a weakness in the system of measures aimed at preventing offenses among children.

In turn, although showing certain results, the activities of the Interagency Coordination Council on Juvenile Justice, which was established in 2017, are of advisory and non-regulatory nature.

It is recognized by both the Government and public organizations that the mechanism of interaction between executive authorities and non-governmental organizations, engaged in the protection of children's rights, is not sufficiently effective.

Thus, there is a systemic crisis in the management of the process of formation and especially of the implementation of the state policy on the juvenile justice. And this does not take into consideration a number of disadvantages, related to non-compliance with the requirements of the international standards on the staff training in this field, since these international standards greatly emphasize the need for special training of all officials involved in the administration of the juvenile justice (the "Beijing Rules").

1.6. Role of the child in the juvenile justice system.

There is another problem that can be diagnosed in the context of the state policy on the juvenile justice – this is the nature of the child's participation in the administration of justice. This is in particular the requirement of Article 40 of the Convention on the Rights of the Child.

For example, in the content of the regulations, rules, and procedures of the juvenile justice and actions of authorized persons of the state, there is still a reflection of the well-known Roman law doctrine of "parens patriae" ("parent of the nation in law"), where the

state is recognized as the main caretaker of children. The consequence of implementation of such doctrine in the public policy, law, and practice is, in particular, the inactive nature of the child's participation in the consideration of his or her case, as well as the failure to take the child's opinion into account when making a decision regarding this child.

The fact that the existing system of protection of the rights and interests of the child in Ukraine is based on the approach to the child as an object of influence, and the child is being considered as an object of protection, and not a legal actor, has been taken into consideration by both the Government and human rights organizations. This is directly reflected in the state policy, legislation, and practice of its implementation.

Such a situation does not correspond to the current concept of children's rights, where, among the categories of rights provided for in the Convention on the Rights of the Child, there is a category of participation that defines children as legal actors and not the objects of protection.

The attitude of children and youth towards public authorities as a whole is an example of projection of this problem. Children and young people show low levels of credence to these institutions, especially the police and courts. For instance, on a scale from one to five, where 1 is a complete distrust and 5 is an absolute trust, the indicators of credence of young people are as follows: the Verkhovna Rada (1.81), political parties (1.85), the Government (1.87), courts (1.98), the President (2), local authorities (2.37), civil society organizations (2.38), the police (2.43), the media (2.55), army (2.86), volunteer movements (2.98), and church (2.99). None of these institutes has surpassed the average mark of 3 at the national level³. In another study on a 5-point scale, the level of trust was as follows:

Towards courts: from 0 to 2 - 66.44% of minors interviewed, 3 - 17.42% of respondents, and 4 to 5 - 16.13% of respondents;

Towards the police: from 0 to 2 - 61.9% of the juvenile respondents, 3 - 21.94% of respondents, and 4 to 5 - 16.77% of respondents⁴.

It is entirely reasonable that such distrust is explained by the deficiencies in the functioning of the justice system, with children participating in it, and the system of dealing with minors in general, since both of these systems are not child friendly.

1.7. Implementation of the "ensuring the best interests of the child" principle.

The UN Committee on the Rights of the Child attributes this principle to the list of the leading principles of the comprehensive policy on the administration of juvenile justice. The latest official acts of the Government also recognize ensuring the best interests of the child as a top-priority ground for the formation and implementation of the child-friendly justice.

³ Ukrainian "Generation Z": Attitudes and Values – the nationwide poll "Youth of Ukraine 2017". URL: <u>http://neweurope.org.ua/wp-content/uploads/2017/11/Ukr Generation ukr inet-2.pdf</u>.

⁴ N.V. Ortynska. Legal status of a minor: theoretical and legal research: dissertation for Doctor of Juridical Science. Lviv, 2017. 524 p.

A peculiarity of this principle is also a fact that it must simultaneously be implemented both in the content of the state policy on juvenile justice, the provisions of legislative and by-law acts in this field, and in the content of practical activities of authorized entities dealing with children in conflict / contact with the law. This involves incorporating appropriate mechanisms (practices and procedures for the treatment of minors) into the statutory instruments and developing a system of criteria and algorithms for evaluating the interests of the child by authorized actors (such as judges, social workers, etc.).

And although this provision is mentioned, in particular, in the Law of Ukraine "On the Protection of Childhood", it is virtually non-existent in its further meaningful implementation in the statutory instruments, related to the juvenile justice, or is not included into the list of criteria for evaluation of the best interests of the child in these statutory instruments.

Therefore, it has not found its proper consolidation and implementation in the national legislation and the practice of its application.

The UN Committee on the Rights of the Child observes that the application of the principle of the best interests of the child should be based on the obligation to systematically consider, by each legislative, administrative, or judicial body or institution, how their decisions and actions affect or may affect rights and interests of children. The best interests of the child are a complex concept that covers the child's interests themselves and concerns the child in the context and connection with his or her family and the community. That is why the "safeguarding the best interests of the child" should be conducted on a multidisciplinary (comprehensive) and fast (within a reasonable time) basis and be as easy as possible for the child.

Unfortunately, the Government acknowledges the fact that, despite the existence of legislative provisions for taking the views of the child into account, there is no mechanism to ensure the best interests of the child in the process of the state policy planning. In addition, the problem of implementation of this principle is connected with the fact that drafts of statutory instruments are not reviewed for compliance with the principles of the Convention on the Rights of the Child.

The best way to make children good is to make them happy. Oscar Wilde

2. Options for addressing the problems

Introduction of an effective model of the juvenile justice in Ukraine is associated with a number of problems that require taking various measures of legal, organizational, socio-economic, and ideological nature. But most of all, it concerns the need to change the approaches of the state and its legislative, judicial, and executive authorities to the formation and implementation of the policy in this field and changes in the national legislation, as well as to practical activities in the sphere of juvenile justice administration by the replacement of the existing practice with the child-friendly justice. Each of these measures represents a separate element of activities in solving the current problems, but on the other hand, they must be introduced and implemented in an integrated manner, which contributes to the general goal of ensuring the best interests of the child. This is the goal, which, as the world practice proves, can most effectively be achieved within the framework of the functioning of a special system – a justice system for children, or a juvenile justice. And in this regard, the UN Committee on the Rights of the Child urged Ukraine to introduce a juvenile justice system back in 2011.

2.1. Changes in the state approaches to the development of the juvenile justice policy.

While analyzing the procedural norms and views of the state on the formation of policies in this sphere, it can be noted that currently there is significant strengthening of the trend towards humanization of the process of dealing with minors in conflict with the law. However, the state still maintains the model of the juvenile justice, mostly based on the punitive approach. Although at the level of the Government it is admitted that introduction of an individual educational approach in contrast to the punitive approach is a truly promising trend in this field.

US researchers note that punitive policies are much more costly (such measures cost an average of \$241 per day (\$88,000 a year)) than alternatives aimed at the youth development, family support, and community integration (community programs for youth cost only \$11 per day). The latter also reduce the offence repetition rate by an average of 55%, compared to 22% in the former approach. The fiscal burden is supplemented with the additional costs that result from ineffective policies, including: higher costs of social support; higher recidivism rates, including costs for future victims of crimes; former prisoners face legal discrimination in employment and housing, etc.

A step in changing the approaches of the state to the formation and implementation of policies in the field of juvenile justice is the introduction of a mechanism for the withdrawal of a child in conflict with the law from the customary system of justice, alongside with the use of alternative measures (supervision or guardianship; provision of assistance with social adaptation; financial penalties, compensation and restitution; community service; participation in group psychotherapy and similar activities; mediation (restorative justice), etc.). All of these options should more effectively contribute to destigmatization of children, who have committed an offense. Moreover, these changes are fully in line with the requirements of international standards in the sphere of juvenile justice (in particular, the "Beijing Rules").

Starting from the beginning of 2019, the Prosecutor General's Office and the Ministry of Justice of Ukraine have been launching a pilot project, which provides for the possibility not to initiate criminal proceedings against children who have committed a minor crime. The program provides for the withdrawal of juvenile offenders from the criminal process by undergoing a reconciliation (mediation) procedure with the victim

and compulsory measures to re-socialize the minors. The program implementation period is 6 months. Later on it can be fixed at the legislative level.

Mediation (restorative justice) has a great potential in combination with other social support measures and the education of a minor in conflict with the law to reduce punitive influence on such a person and to protect the interests of both victims and the community. This approach makes it possible not to apply, against minors, any measures of a punitive nature that are not sufficiently effective and economically justifiable. It also helps to compensate the victim for the harm caused and to establish a mutual understanding between the victim and the offender. In addition, it takes into consideration the interests of the community (the minor remains in the community, can take part in the community service useful for the local residents, and the state funds are not spent on the minor's allowance).

In June 2019, the non-governmental organization called Institute of Peace and Understanding (IPU), together with the Criminal Cassation Court within the Supreme Court of Ukraine, held an organizational meeting of the Coordination Council within the framework of the project "Implementation of the Restorative Justice in Ukraine" with the financial support of the United Nations Democracy Fund (UNDEF).

The aforementioned examples of steps to be taken by the public authorities to expand the use of mediation (restorative justice), along with the implementation of other practices at the legislative level, will contribute to the saving of public resources and may be beneficial to society, since the minor is not excluded from the community but is included in its socio-economic life.

That is why the state should focus its activities on the implementation of one of the most important principles of the child-friendly justice – the principle of retrenchment of the criminal repression, which should expand the range of opportunities for the withdrawal of a child out of the criminal proceedings and criminal liability.

The implementation of such an approach is also a factor in saving the resources of the justice system, which is quite costly.

There is a need for policy changes and a legislative solution to the issue of application of coercive measures of an educational nature against persons under the age of criminal liability, since the procedure itself is reminiscent of bringing a person to criminal prosecution, which is not in line with the position of the UN Committee on the Rights of the Child on the juvenile justice cases.

It is also important to direct the vector of the state policy on the dissemination of additional guarantees for young adult malefactors (for example, the ones aged from 18 to 21 years). This will be consistent with paragraph 3.3. of the Beijing Rules, indicating that efforts should also be made to extend the application of the principles embodied in the Rules to young adult offenders.

This problem can be seen through the example of the Supreme Court's conclusion (Case No. 198/8/17, Proceedings No. 51-609 km 1) that the appellate court's application of coercive measures of an educational nature to the accused, who had reached the age of majority at the moment of consideration of the petition, is an unconditional ground for revocation of the judgment. This position is also enshrined in paragraph 1 of the Resolution by the Plenum of the Supreme Court of Ukraine No. 2 "On the Practice of courts' consideration of cases on application of coercive measures of an educational nature", dated May 15, 2006, according to which the law provides for the application of coercive measures of an educational nature exclusively to minors – that is the person must be a minor not only at the time of commitment of the crime, but also at the time of the case consideration by the court.

2.2. Improvement of legislation on the juvenile justice.

An important element in introduction of an effective model of the child-friendly justice in Ukraine is the upgrade of the legislative framework, which would be capable of not only filling the existing gaps, but also of contributing to implementation of the international standards into the legal system of Ukraine and of becoming the legal basis for introduction of new approaches to protecting the rights of the child.

The upgrade of the legislative framework, in particular, in this area has been envisaged by such acts as the National Social Program "National Action Plan for the Implementation of the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child" until 2021, the National Strategy for the reform of the juvenile justice system until 2023. In particular, they set out the tasks to develop a child-friendly justice system and to introduce the juvenile justice in the country.

An integral part of the legislative update is the need to expand the list of measures of influence applicable to minors, which is currently limited, inefficient and does not meet the international standards in terms of availability of a wide range of means of influence (paragraph 18 of the Beijing Rules).

Proceedings in cases involving administrative offenses also deserve serious criticism and, at a minimum, require the implementation of the basic guarantees of individual rights in the field of legal proceedings.

The adoption of a special Law on Juvenile Justice as a comprehensive statutory instrument, which would consolidate a number of principles in the field of the protection of children's rights and become the basis for the national model of the child-friendly justice, should be a fundamental step in addressing legislative gaps and improving the national legislation in this sphere.

2.3. Upgrade of the law enforcement practices in the juvenile justice.

The UN Committee on the Rights of the Child notes that the predominantly punitive approach, which is implemented in practice, fails to comply with the juvenile justice guidelines, since social and educational interventions are much more in line with the objectives of the Convention on the Rights of the Child and have proved to be more effective in practice, including the efficiency from an economic point of view.

One of the areas for the upgrade of the law enforcement practice as a childfriendly justice practice is the comprehensive focus of efforts to solve the existing problems of all state institutions, relevant to this field.

Part of this should be the implementation of the globally acknowledged multidisciplinary approach in analyzing the situation (case) of a child in conflict with the law, when relevant experts not only conduct the assessment of the needs and risks of the child, but also take into account his or her individualities and circumstances of the offense.

The United Nations Guidelines for the Prevention of Juvenile Delinquency (The Riyadh Guidelines) draw attention of the states to the fact that there is a need to make efforts and create appropriate mechanisms to promote, on an interdisciplinary basis, the interaction and coordination of activities of economic, social, educational, and medical organizations and services, the justice system, youth and civic organizations, institutions, etc.

One of the important aspects of ensuring the observance of the rights of the child is the further improvement of the provision of legal assistance. In addition, an important guarantee consists in the creation of requirements on the availability of the appropriate experience and special training of persons providing legal assistance to minors, which will be in line with the recommendations of the UN Committee on the Rights of the Child and the requirements of the Committee of Ministers of the Council of Europe Guidelines on the child-friendly justice.

There is also a need to adapt the premises of the courts and the police for consideration of cases involving children. As of today, a number of facilities of these public authorities have no appropriate courtrooms or special rooms for interrogation of children who became victims or witnesses of crimes (the so-called "Green rooms"), which fact adversely affects the consideration of this category of cases.

The draft amendment to the State Building Regulations proposes to adapt the buildings and premises of the courts to the needs of visitors with young children. It is not just about arranging a playing area for children (a baby room) in the public space of the courts, but also designing a separate room – a "little witness" – for juvenile participants of legal proceedings who sometimes need to testify during a court hearing.

One of the conditions for introduction of the juvenile justice in Ukraine is the proper training of investigators, prosecutors, judges, and lawyers, including the training on their use of child-friendly practices in cases involving children in conflict with the law. In a certain way, the society itself, especially at the level of local communities, is not ready to perceive new approaches to dealing with of juvenile offenders.

2.4. Approaches to choosing the best child-friendly justice model for Ukraine.

The analysis of the experience in the juvenile justice in many countries proves that each of the states has been formed, to a certain extent, its own model of the juvenile justice. Each of them has its own peculiarities and has been chosen by the state concerned, taking into account its legal traditions and the content of its policies in the field of the protection of children's rights.

For Ukraine, it is important to choose such a model of the juvenile justice, which would take into consideration not only the real situation in the sphere of protection of children's rights in the country, but also legal traditions and domestic experience in this area. At the same time, the interests of territorial communities, society, and the state, which suffer from ineffective state policy in the field of juvenile justice and spend money for its realization, also cannot be ignored.

For example, the arrangement of separate courts for minors at the state level creates quite extensive opportunities for the protection of the rights of the child and represents a universal model. However, with the current political and socio-economic situation in Ukraine, creation of such a model is not promising enough.

As of today, Ukraine already has a model of specialized judges, but only in the field of criminal justice – although it is not sufficiently effective as well. Such ineffectiveness is, first of all, based on the fact that it fails to cover all aspects of the situation a minor has come to and does not comply with the criteria of the child-friendly justice.

That is why it would be expedient to give preference to such a model that would actually ensure the implementation, in the state policy, legislation, and the law enforcement practice, of the principle of the "best interests of the child" (which is conditioned by Ukraine's obligation to implement the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child) and would become the basis for the development of child-friendly justice, as well as a means of reintegrating a child in conflict with law into society.

That is why it is necessary to create a system that would, first of all, ensure the specialization of all actors the child comes in contact with in the system of justice (victims, witnesses, offenders in petty cases, etc.), and secondly, would promote the introduction of the multidisciplinary approach, when the best interests of the child are evaluated in a multidisciplinary manner by various specialists.

The introduction of a domestic model of juvenile justice in Ukraine requires ensuring the participation, in the process of pre-trial and court proceedings based on the child-friendly justice, of not only specialized investigators, prosecutors, and judges, but also attorneys, mediators, probation agencies, and psychologists. Such a model also requires the involvement of representatives of the local communities and the civil society organizations in the administration of justice, because they play an important role in protecting the rights of the child, but have no defined status and grounds to participate in this process.

> A child needs your love most when he deserves it least. Erma Louise Bombeck

3. Conclusions and recommendations.

At the beginning of the document, it was noted that each country created its own system of protection of the rights of the child, including children in contact with the law. But in most countries, including the states of the European Union, such systems are responsive to and adapted to the child's age, maturity, and development, as they are based on the concept of the child-friendly justice. This property integrates and characterizes the direction of development for the system of protection of the rights of the child and juvenile justice in democratic countries. Therefore, it is expedient for Ukraine, which is a democratic, social, and a rule-of-law state, also to take this approach in the field of juvenile justice.

The conducted research indicates that the state policy on the juvenile justice and the practice of its implementation are marked by serious shortcomings. For instance, the juvenile justice system does not sufficiently comply with the requirements of international standards on the rights of the child and justice for children; the procedures for dealing with children in contact with the law often do not meet the requirements of ensuring of the best interests of the child; and the forms and methods of consideration and resolution of cases involving minors very often are carried out similarly to the proceedings for adults. In such circumstances, the juvenile justice system has few grounds to achieve the goal of ensuring of the best interests of the child and to create conditions for re-socialization of children in conflict with the law, as well as to take into account the interests of the community and society in terms of maintenance of public security and social peace.

The implementation of the state policy on the juvenile justice should cover or take into consideration the following issues:

1. Adoption of a law on juvenile justice (on justice for children) is required in the near future. The results of the analysis of the national juvenile justice legislation and the practice of its implementation indicate that the adoption of such a law will ensure the coordination of the activities of the state bodies forming the justice system for children, will contribute to a more effective impact on the juvenile delinquency, and will create preconditions for further improvement of activities on the protection of children's rights in Ukraine.

2. It is important to provide the state policy on the juvenile justice with the status of a separate line of activity of its bodies, both at the national and local levels in the field of human rights, and to recognize it as an integral part of the activity for the protection of the rights of the child. This will ensure both purposeful activity of the state bodies in this field (central government authorities, court, public defenders' office, prosecutor's office, pre-trial investigation agencies, probation and social services, special institutions for children, etc.) and the systemic and comprehensive solution of those problems and challenges (legal, organizational, socio-economic, etc.) that are encountered on the road of implementation of the juvenile justice system in Ukraine.

The state policy on the juvenile justice in Ukraine should become a continuation of previous inventions in this area and gain its new development and contents in accordance with the European integration course of our country.

3. The national model of the juvenile justice in Ukraine should be based on international and European child-friendly justice standards. At the same time, it is important to take into account the existing standards of practices in dealing with children in contact with the law and the national legal traditions and practices. Such an approach will contribute to a more comprehensive protection of the rights and interests of children, the possibility of more effective re-socialization of the child in conflict with the law, and saving of public resources. It will also contribute to the protection of interests of the community and society in terms of maintenance of public security and social peace.

4. The basis for the formation of a model of juvenile justice in Ukraine should be created taking into consideration the following:

- When formulating and implementing the state policy: the United Nations Guidelines for the Prevention of Juvenile Delinquency (the Riyadh Guidelines) and a number of other statutory instruments;

- When updating the national legislation: United Nations Standard Minimum Rules for the Administration of Juvenile Justice (the Beijing Rules), Guidelines of the Committee of Ministers of the Council of Europe on child-friendly justice, relevant recommendations of the Council of Europe to the member states on the justice and impact on the juvenile delinquency, and a number of other statutory instruments;

- When improving the law enforcement practice: General Comments of the UN Committee on the Rights of the Child, relevant recommendations of the Council of Europe to the member states on the justice and impact on the juvenile delinquency, and a number of other statutory instruments.

- The relevant guidance from the supreme judicial authorities regarding the practice of consideration and resolution of cases involving minors shall be subjected to update.

4. The state policy and the legislative resolution of the issue of forms for dealing with minors in conflict with the law and the system of measures of influence on such persons need to be changed. Priority should be given to the implementation of programs for the withdrawal of juvenile offenders from the criminal proceedings through the application of social rehabilitation measures and the education of minors in conflict with the law. In the short term, such steps will contribute to improvement of the efficiency and operability of the juvenile justice system. In the time following, they will further lay the groundwork for overall reformation of the system for prevention and counteracting offenses in the state and for strengthening the protection of victims and the interests of the community.

5. It is expedient to establish an executive body on the rights of the child under the Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine. This body should get the functions of organizing the execution, by the Government, of the powers to ensure the rights of the child in Ukraine, including the ones related to the juvenile justice. It should also deal with coordination of the central government authorities in this field, monitoring of the Government's acts on observance of the state policy in the sphere of child rights, and interaction with civil

society. It would be also expedient to resolve the issue of liquidation of the Office of the Children's Right Commissioner for the President of Ukraine – with redistribution of part of the budget allocations and the staff of the Office of the Children's Right Commissioner for the President of Ukraine in favor of the Children's Right Commissioner for the Government.

6. The status of the state government authorities and local self-government bodies as the main actors for the fulfillment of Ukraine's obligations to implement the provisions of the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child and a number of other international treaties, ratified by the Verkhovna Rada of Ukraine, should be legally enshrined at both national and local levels. The list of conductors of the state policy on the juvenile justice in Ukraine, taking into consideration the requirements of Article 3 of the Ukrainian Constitution, shall include representatives of the legislature (as subjects of formulation of this policy), of the executive power and local self-government (as subjects of implementation and support), and of the judiciary and related institutions, including the civil society (as subjects of implementation of child-friendly programs and practices related to children in contact with the law).

7. It is important that the system of justice for children (a juvenile justice system) should be capable of providing every child with the right to a fair trial and respect for his or her other rights and freedoms. This should be ensured regardless of the status of the child in legal proceedings by giving a primary consideration to the best possible ensuring of the child's interests, taking into account his or her opinion and comprehensive assessment of his or her interests. This approach will contribute to enhancement of protection of the rights of the child in conflict with the law and further promote and uphold the respect for human rights and freedoms in Ukraine.

8. It is necessary to introduce procedures and practices for dealing with children that would be adapted to the characteristics of their age, maturity, and development, as well as to create for a child, being a party to the pre-trial or judicial proceedings in any status, the conditions for active participation in the proceedings as a legal actor and not as an object of protection. There is also a need to establish conditions (rules, procedures, and guarantees) for the expression and consideration of the child's opinion by the competent authorities.

9. In the process of formulation and implementation of the state policy in the field of the rights of the child, development of programs, decisions, strategies, and changes to the statutory instruments, including the ones related to the juvenile justice, it is important to take into consideration the "ensuring the best interests of the child" principle. This should be reflected in the provisions of both laws and by-laws, including by way of their review for compliance with the principles of the Convention on the Rights of the Child. This approach will help to focus attention specifically on securing the rights of the child and eliminating those negative factors that lead to their restriction or violation. The "interests of the child" as an evaluation notion shall be subject to assessment each time in respect of every minor in conflict with the law before any decision about the child is made by various experts – as a manifestation of the multidisciplinary approach.

10. In the process of formulation and implementation of the state policy in the field of the rights of the child, development of programs, decisions, strategies, and changes to the statutory instruments, including the ones related to the juvenile justice, it is important to calculate the economic feasibility and effectiveness of implementation of these or those measures and programs, as well as their ability to promote the protection of interests of the community and society in terms of maintenance of public security and social peace.

11. It is important to build the talent pool of the child protection system in Ukraine. That is why there is an urgent need for development and implementation of new training programs, courses, and workshops (and improvement of the existing ones) for the staff of the system of agencies, services, and special institutions for children, in particular:

- For representatives of all agencies, services, and special institutions – the training course on the rights of the child with issuance of a certificate as a condition for carrying out activities related to minors;

- Thematic training programs, courses, and workshops on the basic activities for protection of the rights of the child for the relevant agencies, services, and special institutions (prevention of offenses, prevention of domestic violence and bullying, peculiarities of interrogation and investigative activities with minors, etc.).

12. There is a need to provide the public with more information on the juvenile justice reforms. Therefore, in order to improve the public perception and support of the process of creating a system of justice for children in Ukraine, it would be expedient to carry out (at the national, regional, and local levels) thematic information and awareness-raising campaigns both about the goals of the reform and its benefits and positive consequences and about the protection of the rights of children in general in particular areas (bullying, drive against domestic violence, control of smoking and drug abuse, social support for children, juvenile justice, etc.).

13. It is advisable to introduce, at both the national and local levels, a system for monitoring the protection of children's rights in Ukraine, including the monitoring of the status of the juvenile justice system functioning and of the public opinion on their implementation. Such steps will enable more flexible adjustments and expeditious measures for implementation of the state policy on the rights of the child, including the ones related to the juvenile justice.

14. It is important to perceive the issue of protection of the rights of the child and the juvenile justice as part of the broader agenda of human rights and freedoms in Ukraine as a democratic, social, and a rule-of-law state, where the promotion and upholding of human rights and freedoms are its main responsibility. This emphasizes the fact that the resolution of problems in the field of the rights of the child should be carried out in the light of this constitutional provision, which is a reflection of the generally recognized international human rights standards in the modern world and a signpost on the way to realize our country's strategic course for getting a full membership of Ukraine in the European Union.

List of sources

1. Alternative report on the implementation of the provisions of the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child in Ukraine for the period from 2011 to 2018 (draft)/ URL: https://www.childrights.in.ua/Proekt_Alternativnogo_zvtu_pro_dotrimannja_Ukranoju_polozhen_Konvenc_ OON_pro_prava_ditini_za_perod_z

2. Alternative report on the implementation of the provisions of the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child in Ukraine for 2002-2008. URL: <u>https://www.unicef.org/ukraine/report-ukr.pdf</u>

3. Analysis of the national legislative framework of Ukraine on the current system of protection of children in conflict with the law: Defence for Children International (DCI-ECPAT NL) – All-Ukrainian Foundation for Children's Rights". Kyiv, 2018 - 74 p.

4. V.M. Bourdin. Peculiarities of criminal responsibility of minors in Ukraine: monograph / V.M. Bourdin – K.: Attica – 240 p.

5. Declaration of the Rights of the Child: Adopted by UN General Assembly resolution 1386 (XIV) of 20 November 1959. URL: <u>https://zakon.rada.gov.ua/laws/show/995_384</u>

6. State policy: a textbook / The National Academy for Public Administration under the President of Ukraine; editorial team: Yu. V. Kovbasyuk (chairman), K.O. Vashchenko (deputy chairman), Yu.P. Surmin (deputy chairman) [and others]. - K.: NAPA, 2014. – 448 p. – p. 8.

7. National Social Program "National Action Plan for the Implementation of the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child" until 2021 – Resolution of the Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine No. 453, dated 30.05.2018. URL: <u>https://www.kmu.gov.ua/ua/npas/pro-zatverdzhennya-derzhavnoyi-socialnoyi-programi-nacionalnij-plan-dij-shodo-realizaciyi-konvenciyi-oon-pro-prava-ditini-na-period-do-2021-roku</u>

8. European Court of Human Rights: Engel v. The Netherlands. URL: https://precedent.in.ua/2016/04/08/engel-engel-y-drugye-protyv-nyderlandov/

9. General Comment No. 10 (2007) of the UN Committee on the Rights of the Child "Children's rights in juvenile justice" (CRC/C/GC/10, April 25, 2007).

10. Concluding Observations of the UN Committee on the Rights of the Child on reports submitted by States Parties under article 12, paragraph 1, of the Optional Protocol to the Convention on the Rights of the Child on the Sale of Children, Child Prostitution and Child Pornography (2007): Ukraine. URL: https://undocs.org/ru/CRC/C/OPSC/UKR/CO/1

11. Concluding Observations of the UN Committee on the Rights of the Child on the second periodic report under the Convention on the Rights of the Child: Ukraine (2002). https://tbinternet.ohchr.org/_layouts/15/treatybodyexternal/Download.aspx?symbolno=CRC%2fC%2f15%2f Add.191&Lang=ru

12. Concluding Observations of the UN Committee on the Rights of the Child based on consideration of the third and fourth consolidated periodic reports on implementation of the Convention on the Rights of the Child by Ukraine (courtesy translation) (2011). URL: https://www.unicef.org/ukraine/ukr/UN_CRC_ConcludingObservations_Ukr.pdf

13. General Comment No. 10 (2007) of the UN Committee on the Rights of the Child "Children's rights in juvenile justice". URL: <u>https://www.refworld.org.ru/category,LEGAL,CRC,,,4ffd3c082,0.html</u>

14. General Comment No. 14 (2013) on the right of the child to get the primary consideration of the best the Committee the Rights interests of the child: UN on of the Child. URL: https://www.refworld.org.ru/docid/528b2c874.html

15. Guidelines of the Committee of Ministers of the Council of Europe on child-friendly justice (Adopted by the Committee of Ministers on November 17, 2010 at the 1098th meeting of the Ministers' Deputies). https://rescentre.org.ua/dytyna-svidok/kerivni-printsipi-komitetu-ministriv-radi-ievropi-schodo-sudochinstva-druzhniogo-ditini

16. The United Nations Guidelines for the Prevention of Juvenile Delinquency (The Riyadh Guidelines), adopted and proclaimed by General Assembly resolution 45/112 of December 14, 1990. http://zakon.rada.gov.ua/laws/show/995_861

17. Code of Ukraine on Administrative Offenses. https://zakon.rada.gov.ua/laws/show/2229-19

18. Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms. http://zakon5.rada.gov.ua/laws/show/995_004

19. Convention on the Rights of the Child – Compass: A manual in human rights education with participation of the youth. URL: <u>https://www.coe.int/uk/web/compass/children</u>

20. Convention on the Rights of the Child: Convention, International document, UN, 20.11.1989. URL: https://zakon.rada.gov.ua/laws/show/995_021

21. Concept of reforming the criminal justice of Ukraine: Decree of the President of Ukraine "On the resolution of the National Security and Defense Council of Ukraine of February 15, 2008 "On the course of reforming the system of criminal justice and law enforcement agencies", No. 311/2008, dated April 8, 2008. URL: <u>https://zakon.rada.gov.ua/laws/show/311/2008</u>

22. N.M. Krestovska. Juvenile Justice: study guide / A.I. Gusev, Yu.B. Kostova, N.M. Krestovska, T.E. Semikop, V.I. Shmeriga, I.G. Tereshchenko; edited by N.M. Krestovska. – O.: Odessa Law Institute at Kharkiv National University of Internal Affairs, 2006. – 243 p.

23. E.B. Melnikova. Juvenile Justice: Problems of Criminal Law, Criminal Proceedings, and Criminology. – M.: Delo, 2000. – 272 p.

24. United Nations Standard Minimum Rules for the Administration of Juvenile Justice (the Beijing Rules). <u>http://zakon.rada.gov.ua/laws/show/995_211</u>

25. Population: Demographic and Social Statistics / Population and Migration: State Statistics Service of Ukraine. URL: http://www.ukrstat.gov.ua/operativ/operativ2007/ds/nas_rik/nas_u/nas_rik_u.html

26. N.V. Ortynska. Legal status of a minor: theoretical and legal research: Dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Law under specialty 12.00.01. Lviv, 2017. – 524 p.

27. Decision of the Panel of Judges of the Second Trial Chamber at the Criminal Cassation Court within the Supreme Court of Ukraine, Case No. 198/8/17, Proceedings No. 51-609 km 17. URL: <u>http://www.reyestr.court.gov.ua/Review/73438119</u>

28. Resolution by the Plenum of the Supreme Court of Ukraine No. 2 "On the Practice of courts' consideration of cases on application of coercive measures of an educational nature", dated May 15, 2006. http://zakon2.rada.gov.ua/laws/show/v0002700-06

29. Resolution by the Plenum of the Supreme Court of Ukraine No. 5 "On the Practice of Ukrainian courts' application of legislation in cases of juvenile delinquency, dated April 16, 2004. http://zakon4.rada.gov.ua/laws/show/va005700-04

30. Resolution by the Plenum of the Supreme Court of Ukraine No. 12 "On the Practice of Ukrainian courts' application of legislation on exemption of a person from criminal liability, dated December 23, 2005. http://zakon5.rada.gov.ua/laws/show/v0012700-05

31. On Amendments to the Criminal Procedure Code of the Ukrainian SSR: Decree of the Presidium of the Verkhovna Rada of the Ukrainian SSR No. 117-VIII, dated 30.08.71 (Verkhovna Rada Bulletin (VRB)), No. 36, Article 278). URL: <u>https://zakon.rada.gov.ua/laws/show/117-08</u>

32. On certain issues of administration of criminal proceedings involving minors": letter No. 223-1134/0/4-13 of the Superior Specialized Court of Ukraine for civil and criminal cases, dated July 18, 2013. URL: <u>http://zakon4.rada.gov.ua/laws/show/v1134740-13</u>

33. On certain issues of administration of criminal proceedings involving minors": letter No. 223-1134/0/4-13 of the Superior Specialized Court of Ukraine for civil and criminal cases, dated July 18, 2013. URL: <u>https://zakon.rada.gov.ua/laws/show/v1134740-13</u>

34. On the National Program "National Action Plan for the Implementation of the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child" until 2016: Law of Ukraine No. 1065-VI, dated March 5, 2009, the Verkhovna Rada of Ukraine. URL: <u>https://zakon.rada.gov.ua/laws/show/1065-17</u>

35. On prevention of financial catastrophe and creation of preconditions for economic growth in Ukraine: Law of Ukraine No. 1166-VII, dated March 27, 2014, the Verkhovna Rada of Ukraine. URL: https://zakon.rada.gov.ua/laws/show/1166-18#n331

36. On the Principles of the State Policy of Ukraine in the Field of Human Rights: Resolution of the Verkhovna Rada of Ukraine No. 757-XIV, dated 17.06.1999. URL: <u>https://zakon.rada.gov.ua/laws/show/757-14</u>

37. On approval of the National Human Rights Strategy: Decree of the President of Ukraine No. 361/2006, No. 501/2015, dated May 10, 2006. URL: <u>https://zakon.rada.gov.ua/laws/show/501/2015#n15</u>

38. On approval of the action plan for the implementation of the National Human Rights Strategy until 2020, the Decree No. 1393-r of the Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine, dated November, 2015. URL: https://www.kmu.gov.ua/ua/npas/248740679

39. On approval of the action plan for the implementation of the Concept of development of criminal justice for minors in Ukraine: Order of the Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine No. 1039-r, dated October 12, 2011. URL: <u>https://zakon.rada.gov.ua/laws/show/1039-2011-p</u>

40. On the Concept of improving the judiciary for the establishment of a fair trial in Ukraine in accordance with European standards: Decree of the President of Ukraine No. 361/2006, dated May 10, 2006. URL: <u>https://zakon.rada.gov.ua/laws/show/361/2006</u>

41. On the Concept of development of criminal justice for minors in Ukraine: Decree of the President of Ukraine No. 597/2011, dated May 24, 2011. URL: <u>https://zakon3.rada.gov.ua/laws/show/597/2011</u>

42. On the Concept of judicial and legal reform in Ukraine: Resolution of the Verkhovna Rada of Ukraine. URL: <u>https://zakon.rada.gov.ua/laws/show/2296-12</u>

43. On the National Strategy for the prevention of social orphanhood until 2020: Decree of the President of Ukraine No. 609/2012, dated October 22, 2012. <u>https://zakon4.rada.gov.ua/laws/show/609/2012</u>

44. On the protection of childhood: Law of Ukraine No. 2402-III, dated April 26, 2001, the Verkhovna Rada of Ukraine. URL: <u>https://zakon.rada.gov.ua/laws/show/2402-14</u>

45. On the practice of administration by the courts of criminal proceedings involving minors: letter of the Superior Specialized Court of Ukraine for civil and criminal cases No. 223-66/0/4-17, dated January 16, 2017. URL: http://zib.com.ua/ua/print/127476-list_vssu_vid_16012017_223-6604-17, pro_proktiku_zdivengenue_html

17_pro_praktiku_zdiysnennya_.html

46. On the practice of applying a juvenile restraint measure in the form of detention and ensuring the first-priority judicial consideration of criminal proceedings concerning this category of persons: letter of the Superior Specialized Court of Ukraine for civil and criminal cases No. 223-1346/0/4-17, dated 18.07.2017. URL: <u>http://search.ligazakon.ua/l_doc2.nsf/link1/VRR00226.html</u>

47. On ratification of the Convention on the Rights of the Child: Resolution of the Verkhovna Rada of Ukraine No. 789-XII, dated 27.02.91. URL: <u>https://zakon.rada.gov.ua/laws/show/789-12</u>

48. On the Recommendations of the Parliamentary Hearings "On the problem of homeless citizens and homeless children and ways to overcome it"

49. On the Recommendations of the Parliamentary Hearings "On the legislative support and the real status of respect for the rights of the child in Ukraine": Resolution of the Verkhovna Rada of Ukraine No. 3189-VI URL, dared April 5, 2011. <u>https://zakon.rada.gov.ua/laws/show/3189-17</u>

50. On the Recommendations of the Parliamentary Hearings on "Education, health, and social welfare of children with psycho-physical disabilities: problems and ways to overcome them"

51. On the Recommendations of the Parliamentary Hearings on "Rights of the Child in Ukraine: Respect, Compliance, and Protection"

52. On the Recommendations of the Parliamentary Hearings on "Family policy of Ukraine – goals and objectives"

53. On the Recommendations of the Parliamentary Hearings on the situation with young people in Ukraine (concerning the support of young families and strengthening of social protection of children and youth in 2001-2006)

54. On the resolution of the National Security and Defense Council of Ukraine of February 15, 2008 "On the course of reforming the system of criminal justice and law enforcement agencies": Decree of the President of Ukraine No. 311/2008, dated April 8, 2008. URL: <u>https://zakon.rada.gov.ua/laws/show/311/2008</u>

55. On the Strategy for the reform of the judicial administration, judiciary, and related legal institutions for 2015-2020. Decree of the President of Ukraine No. 361/2006, dated May 10, 2006. URL: https://zakon2.rada.gov.ua/laws/show/276/2015

56. On the judicial administration and the status of judges: Law of Ukraine. URL: <u>https://zakon.rada.gov.ua/laws/show/1402-19</u>

57. On the approval of the National Social Program "National Action Plan for the Implementation of the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child" until 2021: Resolution of the Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine No. 230-r, dated 5.04.2017. URL: <u>https://zakon.rada.gov.ua/laws/show/230-2017-p</u>

58. On the approval of the National Strategy for the reform of the juvenile justice system until 2023: Resolution of the Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine No. 1027-r, dated 18.12.2018. URL: https://www.kmu.gov.ua/ua/npas/prgiyi-reformuvannya-sistemi-yusticiyi-shchodo-ditej-na-period-do-2023-roku

59. On the establishment of the Interagency Coordination Council on Juvenile Justice: Resolution of the Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine No. 357, dated May 24, 2017. URL: <u>https://zakon.rada.gov.ua/laws/show/357-2017-π</u>

60. Interim report on Ukraine's compliance with the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child for 2012-2016. URL: <u>https://helsinki.org.ua/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/CRC-Interim-Report-Ukr-1.pdf</u>

61. Recommendations of the Parliamentary Hearings on "Safeguarding children's rights in Ukraine. Protecting motherhood and childhood".

62. Resolution No. 9-r/2018 of the Constitutional Court of Ukraine in the case on the constitutional submission by 50 People's Deputies of Ukraine concerning the conformity of the Constitution of Ukraine (constitutionality) with the provisions of paragraph 7 section II of the Law of Ukraine "On the prevention of financial catastrophe and creation of preconditions for economic growth in Ukraine" in the case No. 1-3/2018(2717/14), dated November 7, 2018. URL: https://zakon.rada.gov.ua/laws/show/v009p710-18

63. The system of juvenile criminal justice – a civilized approach of the state to the problem of juvenile delinquency: Letter of the Ministry of Justice of Ukraine, dated 07.06.2011. URL: https://zakon.rada.gov.ua/laws/show/n0036323-11

64. Statistical Bulletin for 2016 "Administrative Offenses in Ukraine": State Statistics Service of Ukraine. URL: <u>http://www.ukrstat.gov.ua/druk/publicat/kat_u/2017/bl/05/bl_ap2016pdf.zip</u>

65. Statistical Bulletin for 2017 "Administrative Offenses in Ukraine": State Statistics Service of Ukraine. URL: <u>http://www.ukrstat.gov.ua/druk/publicat/kat_u/2018/zb/05/zb_app_2017_xls.zip</u>

66. Statistical Bulletin for 2018 "Administrative Offenses in Ukraine": State Statistics Service of Ukraine. URL: <u>http://www.ukrstat.gov.ua/operativ/operativ/2019/prav_zloch/adm_prp_2018.htm.xls</u>.

67. Council of Europe Strategy on the Rights of the Child (2012-2015) (courtesy translation). URL: <u>http://res.in.ua/programa-radi-yevropi-buduyemo-yevropu-dlya-ditej-ta-razom-z-d.html</u>

68. Association Agreement between Ukraine, on the one part, and the European Union, the European Atomic Energy Community, and their Member States, on the other part. Agreement, International Document. URL: <u>https://zakon.rada.gov.ua/laws/show/984_011</u>

69. Summarizing the judicial practice of the Supreme Court of Ukraine on juvenile delinquency and involvement of minors in criminal activities, dated 29.08.2003. http://zakon4.rada.gov.ua/laws/show/n0082700-03

70. Ukrainian "Generation Z": Attitudes and Values – the nationwide poll "Youth of Ukraine 2017". URL: <u>http://neweurope.org.ua/wp-content/uploads/2017/11/Ukr_Generation_ukr_inet-2.pdf</u>

71. I.Ya. Foynitsky. A course on criminal proceedings (in 2 volumes). Volume 2. S-Petersburg: Alpha Publishing House, 1996. -607 p. - p. 504-509.

72. Rooms for juvenile witnesses may appear in the courts: Law and Business. URL: <u>https://zib.com.ua/ua/138435-</u>

<u>u_sudah_mozhut_zyavitisya_kimnati_dlya_nepovnolitnih_svidkiv.html?fbclid=IwAR1ZrMBM6ZRfxYX04</u> <u>KrOfoVry26SGHfn9yqdmamgaweHZxQjZIds7YMj3lo</u> (reference date: 11.07.2019 17:12) 73. Crime doesn't pay: cost-effectiveness in the US juvenile justice system / Volodymyr Babich, PhD; Simone Marinesi, PhD; Gerry Tsoukalas, PhD. URL.: <u>https://publicpolicy.wharton.upenn.edu/live/news/938-crime-doesnt-pay-cost-effectiveness-in-the-us</u> (reference date: 15.02.2019)